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“What seemed so damn small, now has become the biggest snowball.” The Fleshies

I hate to start one of these things off with the "sorry this took so long,” but this time | feel it's slightly
justified. it's been over a year, and | know no one is circling the zine racks looking for this, but if you
were, | promise to be more punctual next time. Maybe.

| actually had a big chunk of the zine completed over the summer and was about ready to put t_he
finishing touches on it to mark the 7" anniversary of Myixine. Then one moming while | was working
on the zine, | got a phone call from Paula yelling at me to turn on the radio. “Oh my god! Someone
just blew up the Pentagon, the World Trade Center, the White House and the Capitol! Quick turn on
the radio!” Of course not all that happened, but my focus changed. I'm not someone to thinks that
September 11" was the worse thing that ever happened in the history of the world, or even this
country for that matter. But | know that | felt that other projects were probably more important for me
to focus on, and Mylxine #16 fell to the way side. | think that we, and | mean “we" as in the local
punk-activist community, went into a hyper-overdrive and started writing and printing anti-war
pamphlets like crazy, giving speeches (not just on the soap box, but the day to day stuff), making
posters, and generally helping to organize a resistance to the reactionary patriotic killing fervor that
america is all too good at stirring up, that is now just starting to cool down. It seems that we went into
our own war against all the lies that were being told about what happened, that still hasn't stopped to
this day (our war or theirs). We're still printing pamphlets, we're still organizing forums, and we're still
on the corner every Saturday with our "No War" signs (at least as of this printing).

And just because Afghanistan isn't in the news every day now, don't think for a second that world
is any safer or more sane. In fact, it only seems to be getting more insane by the day. Bush is talking
about nuking people now, the government is publicly and secretly overthrowing governments, the
Palestinians and Israelis are still killing each other, the McCarthyists are getting louder, the
environment is dying, the prison industry is growing even bigger, we're losing the few rights we still
had, and I'm still arguing with my friends about the same stuff that we have been fighting about since
day one.

But somehow, through all this craziness, I've been able to piece this zine together.

The whole war has made me slightly crazy (or crazier | should say), but | guess it'y an american
privilege to be able to shut off the TV and go back into our own dream world of sitcoms, meaningless
news stories, books, and video rentals without really giving a shit about all the incredibly horrendous
stuff that's being done in all of our names.

And while so many aspects of these times have frustrated me to no ends, | have also never been
more pleased with so many of my friends. The ones who stand out are the ones that joined us at the
protests whenever they could, went to the anti-war lectures, helped copy our propaganda, or at the
very least, stayed well informed. It wasn't an easy thing to stand on a street corner in downtown
Pensacola in October 2001 and face a lot of angry people and say that, while we recognize what
happened in NY was a tragedy, we still cannot support more war being waged in our names. And if
that makes us traitors, so be it. But that so many of my friends were standing on the line with us
every week gave me this incredible sense of pride in our little community. That, when it came down
to making a stand, it was mostly the Punks that stood up to George Bush and all the warmongers and
said "Fuck You!" That stuff gives me hope and makes me feel good about the world again.

Then there is the day to day stuff, most recently all of the open racism that has been going on all
around me that makes me feel not as good about the way things are going. | swear, sometimes it all
seems so pointless because we (people in general) keep repeating all the same fucked up cycles. |
don't know what's best, to keep at it like martyrs in an endless struggle, or just give up and buy a TV
and join the rest of the drones.

In the end, | believe that once your eyes are open to how fucked up the world is, you have a duty
totry and fix it. Even if it kills us all, which it certainly might do.

Back to the zine, this issue has grown exponentially since | was initially going to wrap it up over
the summer. I'm not sure what happened to me, but it just never felt like it was complete. At times, it
feit more like | was working on an encyclopedia than a zine. But after 18 months of on again/off again
work, it's finally is going to print. Inside, there are a lot of articles concerning race and racism. Not all
of them are pretty, most of them are personal, and written in an effort to help people open their eyes
and to start discussion on every day racism. None of which is easy to do. | fail to live up to my own
expectations all the time, and the expectations of others as well. Life for me has recently started to
resemble more of an Alfred Hitchcock movie than the reality | felt like | knew when | was younger. Or,



like in James Ngugi's book 4 Grain of Wheat, where, under close inspection, no one is really innocent
and even the people you look up to often let you down, just like everyone else does. | guess that's
just part of being human, though. We all fuck up, we all make mistakes, and no one is perfect. Notto
mention that we all live in a totally white supremacist culture right here in the good ol USA. And
when | say that, | don't mean that everyone is wearing white robes and hoods to work, but it's more
insidious. More subliminal. Like if one wanted to feel superior to another person because of their
race, sex, or whatever, that person would have a large part of the society backing them up.
Everything from the media, to the police, judicial system, the schools, etc, all telling them that, even
though everyone is equal, some people are more equal than others, to paraphrase George Orwell.
{'ve written on these issues several times before, but they're not going away. And, like with
everything else, we can decide that we are going to close our eyes to everything bad that goes on in
front of us, or we can keep fighting the good fight. Even if it kills us. What everyone else does is of
course their decision, but as for me, I'll be around. Still making mistakes, and still learning from them.

Over all, I'm really satisfied with the way this whole thing came out. With that said though, it's stil
hard not to think all of this is some crazy exercise in futility. Working for over a year, hours of reading
and researching topics in the library, months and months of writing, all the sleepless nights. Blah
blah blah. All to put out another obscure zine that moest of my friends probably won't even read.

But what do you do?

Everything's futile and, as far as | know, we'll all be dead tomorrow. So fuck it. | used-to worry a
lot about what to put in the zine and what not to, but in the end I'm just trying to put out something that
I'm satisfied with and hopefully, others will like it too.

Thanks a lot for bearing with me and my stupid introduction. | always think these are the best
parts of zines, but | always suck at saying what I'm trying to say. | guess after 18 months of writing,
I'm tired and | just want to put this out.

So (whew!) it's done. Fuck yeah!

Sorry in advance for any typos that Paula didn't catch. Blame her. But love her too.

As always, I'm totally open to communication. So, now that I've done my part, your part comes
next.

And even though we'll probably all be dead or in jail in the very near future, drop me a line anyway,

£,c5%

ok.

Thanks to: To anyone who had the courage to come to at least one of the protests (my smelly ball
cap's off to you), Adee, Ickabod, Paula, Cindy Doris, Connie, Sparky, Thurston Moore, Ali, Hannah,
Jerod, XBXRX, Rex Ray and 23skidoo, Paul and Sub Books, Sarah, Sam, Amanda, Mr. Sweets,
Aaron, Jen, Rymodee, Terry, Ted, TDIE, all of 309 (past and present), Le Petit Maison, Michelle,
Gloria, Josh, Chichae Chica, Todd X, Dave D, Chomsky (for keeping it reat), Becky, #634764, the
family members that | like, Jackie, Styles, Kent, Billie, BJ, Tu Do's, Shari, The Real Paper, Sluggo's,
Those involved with CORE, H&H, Gary, The Braune's, Pensacola Slim, Roberto, Mister Jamey
Jones, Mike R.x2, Jenna, and especially to Craig D for pushing me get it done before he left town.
This is the first deadline I've kept since this whole thing started. Also, thanks to anyone | neglected to
mention here. I'm sure I'll be hearing about it soon. Fill your name in here

And a big Fuck You goes out to all the modern day McCarthyists, PPD, George Bush Junior and
Senior, Joe Scarborough and Deb Dunlap for trying to ruin this town (but failing). To (mis)quote Axi
Rose (and this will be the only time | will ever do that) 'Karma's gonna hit you like a motherfuckin’

brick.! Maybe.

Soundtrack for this issue (if you care): Alive- Sarah Dougher, Engine Down. The
Fleshies, Dave Dondero, This Bike is a Pipe Bomb, The Insurgent, Lee Hazelwood,
TDIE, FBF, old Sleater-Kinney, Bikini Kill, and Blast Rocks. Dead-Paul Robeson, Miles
Davis, Chet Baker, John Coltrane, Getz/Gilberto, Jackie Gleason (I swear it's good). and
The Ramones

MYLXINE, 309 N 6" Ave, Pensacola, FL 32501

s

o




LIVE FAST

1. Anarchists and homeless rally
at Bart station and burn U.S. flags
before marching.

2. After crossing People’s Park, the
group heads toward the Berkeley Inn,
but marches away after seeing riot
police.

3, Marchers become violent; they
start smashing windows and news-
paper stands. 2

4. Two U.S. flags were burned. Skiz-
mish between skinheads and anar-
chists breaks out. Wells Fargo ATM
machines smashed.

5. Marchers attack UC police pro-
tecting ROTC building, then flee
when four backup officers arrive.

6. Coca-Cola truck vandalized.
Channel 7 camera crew attacked.

7. Marchers confront police, throw
bottles and bricks. Police chase them

through People’s Park. Vi
8. Rioters smash windows and loot : ™
Pt i _ Augusta P. Watts 124 of Pen
9. Orgpn prcak i acola died Monday, Ju]y 9,2001-
10 A R i, o sitation, noon to 3 p.m. today at
10 loot Safeway, or to go home on niboe Funeral Home. Graveside |
B’;‘l“'Pol - ey pervice, 10:30 am. Monday: at
P ET A 2 i Holy Cross Cemetery. - '

MYLXINE

309 N 6™ AVE
PENSACOLA, FL 32501

mylxine@hotmail.com
www.23skidoo.org
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What’s Your Name, Son? .

This wasn't going to be a long bus ride. 14 hours tops and only one transfer in
Houston. The whole time I was hoping to get a seat to myself, but that never happens
when you want it to.

When I got on the bus, I sat down next to this petite white woman with blond hair who
was huddled up in the back corner of the bus. The guy in front of us was a young black
man. I only bring their races up because it plays in with the rest of story.

After we had been riding for about 5 hours, we pulled into Baton Rouge around 7 at
night. I can never stand to stay on the bus when given a chance to leave, so I went inside
the small station to fill up my water bottle and got back on the bus and had a seat. I had
the aisle seat (the most uncomfortable seat for me), so I was struggling to find a
comfortable position that would get me through the next 3 hours until we got to Houston.
Well, right as we were taking off, the woman next just flipped out. She buried her head
in her pillow and yelled really loud "I AM SO UNCOMFORTABLE!"

I was a little embarrassed. I figured that she could have at least said something to me
instead of yelling about her discomfort to the rest of the bus. I tried to move over a little,
but those seats are only so big.

After a minute I closed my eyes to try and get some sleep, but then she kicked the seat
in front of her. "I am SO uncomfortable. Could you PLEASE MOVE YOUR SEAT UP?!"
she said in a very irritated voice. I felt a little better because now I knew I wasn't the
object of her derision.

Either way, she still kept it up. The guy in front of her seemed more irritated that she
was yelling at him and causing a scene than that she was kicking his seat.

"I AM SO UNCOMFORTABLE! COULD YOU PLEASE MOVE YOUR SEAT
upi"

He finally looked back and told her that he was uncomfortable too. And that the entire
bus was uncomfortable. And that if he moved his seat up, he would be even more
uncomfortable than he already was and that she would just have to deal with it.

I felt he could have bent a little, but she
just went nuts and started screaming into her
pillow even louder and more fanatically.
Now everyone was looking back at her, all
the while I'm trying to move further over to 3 > ,
the aisle to distance myself from her. ®

She shifted in her chair some, and then
let out a growl, stood up in her seat and, to GREVHOUN D
my amazement and disbelief, punched the
guy in the back of the head.

I was in total shock. You can't just hit someone on the head because they won't move
their seat up. On countless bus rides I have certainly wished death and horrible violence
upon several people that sat in front of me on the Greyhound. But you don't ACT on it.




The guy looked back quick, got up and drew his fist back, and just swung in the air
and threw himself down on his cushion, pushing his seat further back. She kicked back
and this went on for a few minutes as she continued to scream into her pillow. Then she
took the pillow away from her face to put her foot in her mouth

"I'm going to say it! I'M GOING TO SAY IT!"

The bus was silent except for her.

"NIGGER!"

Once again, I was in total shock.

I jerked my head and gave her a stern, disapproving look, but said nothing. The guy
in front did the same. I shook my head at her and the guy in front said, "That's cool. I'll
just get your ass kicked off the bus at the next stop."

I wanted to say something, but couldn't think of what to say quick enough. It really
caught me off guard that someone would be so bold and crass to say something so
demeaning, especially on a Greyhound where minorities are often the majority.

Even more frustrated at her situation, she yelled it again.

"NIGGER! NIGGER! NIGGER!"

I couldn't believe this was happening in the seat next to me. I was just trying to go
home to see my family for the holidays and a two-person race riot was about to break out.
I finally said something. "You know you're not going to solve anything by saying things
like that." It sounded dumb when I said it, but I couldn’t think of anything else to say.
She just looked at me and turned her head quick to the window and pouted.

"It's cool, man. She'll just walk to Texas now," the man in front of us said as he
adjusted himself back into his seat. "Wait 'till we get to the next stop."

The woman next to me didn't say a thing after that. She knew she fucked up.

About five minutes later the bus pulled into a truck stop on the Texas border. The
man in front got off the bus and told the bus driver, who was also Black, what had
happened a few minutes before. When the break was over, the driver herded everyone
back on the bus, closed the door, and started walking back to where we were all sitting.

"Excuse me, ma'am," the bus driver said. "But do you have a problem with Black
people?"

"No, it's just that he..."

"You don't EVER call a Black person 'nigger!" Do you hear me?"

"Yeah, but he kept pushing his seat back and..."

"He has a name...” the bus driver said as he looked at the man in front. “What's your
name, son?"

"Hakim," the man in front said. .

"His name is Hakim. NOT nigger. You don't call him or any other Black persor}‘
'nigger' again. Do you hear me?"

The woman next to me became very teary eyed and just shook her head and said she
was wrong to the bus driver, but not to Hakim. She wouldn’t even look in his direction:
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"If we have any more problems with you then I'll kick you off this bus no matter
where we are. You don't ever call a black person 'nigger, again." Shakmg his head, he
walked back to the driver's seat and we left the truck stop.

The woman next to me didn't say a thing for the rest of the trip, although I could hear
her slightly sobbing into her pillow. I remember having mixed feelings then. I wanted to
be angry at her, but instead I only felt a strange pity. Like when you know someone
fucked up and they're paying for it. Ijust thought the whole situation was sad.

But what made me feel worse, was when I thought I heard Hakim sniffling a bit, too.
He might have just had a cold, so I may be assuming things, but I started thinking about
just how bad he must have felt and how fucked up it was to have that whole incident even
happen in the first place. Even in the year 2001, people still had to deal with that kind of
bullshit. I know things don’t change overnight, but I really thought we'd be further along
than that by now.

As we were rode into Houston, I stared down the aisle at the front window and started
thinking about everything that just happened and I began to feel guilt in myself. It was
true that I did say something to her and I don’t think that I gave here the impression that I
approved of what she did, it still wasn't enough. It wasn't enough because at times like
that, it's important for people to not only know that those kind of things won't be
tolerated, but that if they do happen, to let the person that they happen to know that they
are not alone.

As I sat there in my seat, I thought about all the times that I let things like that slide.

I though about how I've made excuses for other people when they said or did racist
things, or didn't say anything at all when I should have said something. In this particular
instance, I felt like I could have done more.

When the bus pulled into the terminal, Hakim grabbed his bags and got off the bus.
As he was walking inside I approached him.

"Excuse me...but I just wanted to say that I was sorry about what happened back there,
and...I wanted to apologize to you for not saying more when it did happen. It was fucked
up, and even though I did say something, I should have been louder and I should have
spoken up more than I did back there. And, uh...I just wanted to apologize to you for
that."

Hakim looked kind of surprised at what I said.

“It’s cool, man. The bus driver said everything that needed to be said so it turned out
alright.”

Then he pat me on the back. "I appreciate you saying that to me, though. Thank
you."

We shook hands and then left to find our respective buses.

When I was apologizing to him, I think what I was really saying was that I was sorry
for every time that I had ever done that during my entire life. For every time I heard a
racist joke and didn’t say anything, or heard someone say something sexist, homophobic,
or racist and kept my mouth shut when I should have screamed.

I felt really bad about what just happened on the bus. Not just for him or me, but for
the whole lot of us. When I apologized to Hakim in the Greyhound Terminal, I was
really apologizing to a lot of people all at once. He was just the one that heard me.
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* "The Plight of the Negro in America." I had never heard the word Negro before and asked
& my dad what that word meant. He said a Negro was another word for a Black person.
& Then he went on, "And son, NEVER call a Black person a 'nigger’... because they all carry #

¢ knives and will stab you to death if you do." Ever since that day, I have had a strong :"i ,

= '\1» b»st friend in 3 grade was thlS Vletnamese kid named Phong Ha. We were very close
il that year and somewhat in the 4™ grade as well. But in 5™ grade, around the time when
£ cveryone is starting to feel awkward and needing some kind of acceptance, I felt like 1 f
~xneeded it from this group of kids that were the "cool" ones. They liked to make fun of }
Phong because his name sounded funny to them. One day I joined in, making fun of Phong’
@ and laughing at jokes I didn’t really understand. I still remember Phong's face, almost
asking "why me?" This was in 1982. Only 7 years earlier, his family had fled Vietnam,
vherc he lost a considerable amount of his family to american aggression and now he was
ubjected to a cultural aggression from another american. Now Phong was here in the "land
dof the free." I was supposed to be his friend and was making fun of him for stuff that I
sthardly understood. At the time, I only saw race as black and whlte and not Asian, Hispanic
g 4ot anything else. Just black and white. %
"‘;f‘ Thung out at Phong's house a few times afterwards and was somewhat friends with his
isister ram, but w1th Phong and L, it was never lhe same after that day % 3
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f#In 7" grade, my best fnend was thlS kld named Raymond Raymond was black. I used to
hang out with his family so much that his mom started calling me her white son. Once

® \when Raymond and I were walking through the school, this guy started yelling "Hey,

B nigger" at Raymond. I think they knew each other as acquaintances and not really friends,
and it wasn't particularly hostile the way he did it, but the fact that he actually said
| something so demeaning was what caught me off guard. Maybe he was testing Raymond to

, see if he could get away with it. Raymond kind of laughed it off, but he was also
| surrounded by a bunch of older white kids who were all that guys friends. "Why doesn't he

{ say something?" 1 thought to myself. Raymond looked embarrassed about the whole thmg,
so I didn't say anything else. Thinking about the incident later, I realized that I was asking
myself why Raymond didn't stick up for himself, but I should have asked myself Why I
dldn‘t suck up for him. Why didn't I say somethmg? : ;

Once Raymond, Anthony (Ray's brother) and I were helping clear out some stuff in this
house in Richmond that I had just moved out of. As we were picking through some stuff

& that we wanted to keep, the police showed up. They took Raymond and Anthony in one

oom and brought me into the squad car. They kept harassing them and asking me stupid

questions that cops ask people, like if I was on drugs and that kind of thing. When my

§ mom found out about it she was mad at the cops and went up there and settled the situation
When she and I were riding home, she said that she was mad. "They only called the cops

il on you guys because Raymond and Anthony are black." I had no idea.

|One of my first crushes was on Raymond's younger sister. We used to secretly hold hands
§ underneath the cushions on the couch when we watched TV at her mom's and write "I love
¢ you" with our fingers in each others palms. Their parents were very warm to me and took £
{ me in as if [ were one of their kids. When my Aunt heard about my crush on Tina she had af§

| talk with me over breakfast. "You know that would break your mother's heart if you ever

| married a black girl. Think of the children involved. They'll never be accepted.” I was
Jonly 13. I don't think we were going to be getting married during the summer vacation that
| year, not to mention have children. That night I told my mom what she had said to me and
| she had no idea what my aunt was talking about. She told me that she didn't care if I

i married a black person, she said that all she wanted of me was to be happy. I beheved her.

I used to listen to a lot of rap back lnthe day. Run-DMC, Kums Blow, Grandmaster Flash
Several of my friends and relatxves made fun of me for it. "What do you want to listen to
that nigger music for?" 2
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iIn 1984, I went up to DC to wsnt some family who llved up there While I was out

sightseeing with my uncle I saw a protest going on and wandered over by myself to check i
ilout. It was a Free South Africa rally and I was excited because I had been reading a bunch
fabout apartheid and Nelson Mandela, who I first heard about from some rap song that I
¥l used to listen to. I walked around to the vendors, who were selling bumpers stickers, pins,
i §and T-shirts. I wanted to get a "Free Mandela" T-shirt, but coyldn't find one and was in a
L8l hurry, so instead I got this Malcolm X shirt with a picture of him pointing in a speech.
# Beside his image it said "By any means necessary" and undemeath the quote it said in
& smaller letters "Young Socialist Alliance." When I found my uncle again he was looking at
the Lincoln Memorial. He didn't know I was at the anti-apartheid rally, so when he saw me
@ with a shirt in my hand he assumed that it was one of the several tourist shirts they sold on
the streets of DC. "Oh yon got a souvenir. Can I see what you got?" I kind of hesitantly
unrolled the T-shirt and held it up. His demeanor changed instantly when he saw that it
,4wasn't a shirt with the White House or the Capitol Building, but a Socialist shirt with
 'Malcolm X on the front. "When we get back to the apartment, we're going to hdve a long
“§ talk about this." He seemed very disappointed in me. When we did get back to the
apartment, he had that long talk with me and told me how bad Malcolm X supposedly was.
He even made me read this short biography about him in the encyclopedia, I guess as proof
i that [ shouldn't look up to this man. I knew who Malcolm X was and had already read a
® 1book on him the year before, so it wasn't like this was anything new. Still, I didn't want to
disappoint my uncle so I appeased him and read the bio he had in his encyclopedia. I didn't
iisay anything else about it to him, but even when he was telling me how bad Malcolm X
was, and after readmg the shorl blography in my uncle's kltchen, Malcolm X still seemed

[ was at Raymond s house and there was a white plumber there who was asking me if I
ung out with Raymond's family much. I told him that I did. Then he went on to tell me
that that was ok. He thought that blacks and whites should be closer, as long as they didn
marry. Then he went on to tell me about how the whites and blacks in his neighborhood
would play "BB Gun wars" with teams that were divided up by race. I guess I gave him a g
~strange look, so he got a httle defensive. "C’ mon, we re all just havmg fun," he said. ° E

could live with her family. Maybe they knew my mom would never let me, not because i
P they were black, but because what mother would ]ust let thelr 13 year old son just hvewnth 3

After 8 gxade I moved from Rlchmond to South Texas Smoe I didn't know anyone there
‘ I had a lot of time on my hands and a lot of time to reflect on some things. One thing I
thought about often was my friend Phong and what happened our friendship. 1 decidled to
; pwrite hlm a letter, mostly to apologize for anything that I did that hurt his feelings. I felt -

§ ¥/ fix things between us and let him know that I felt bad about it, even 4 years later. I sent the !
letter off, anx10usly waiting to hear back from him. A few weeks later the letter was
returned to me in themall Phong's family had moved w1thout leavmg a forwardmg g




y first day of achool In Corpus Ci I realized I was one of the only wt kl
school. I was picked on a lot for that. Not to mention I had red hair. It was an awkward

experience, although I'm sure most of it was in my head. ber thmkmg that
* Raymond must have felt the same way in Rn,hmond *

"R”si

Once, 1 was walking into a bathroom at school when these guys all \elled across the hall
"You better not go in there, white boy." I flicked them off and in a minute I had five guys
= surrounding me in the bathroom. I thought for sure I was going to get my ass kicked, but to :,

* my surprise it didn't happen. "Sorry about that," I said. "No offense.” And surprisingly §5’
Bisoty lhex all kind of shook lhelr heads and backed off and let me leave without a fight. > o

oMl 4 i ¢ SO )
§ I was in class and the substitute teacher was reading the roll to check for attendance. .
BB Everyone else's names in the class were Spanish, so when he came to my last name he tricd fasd
¥ 1o read it like it was Spanish too. When he realized that my name wasn't Spanish he
¥ apologized. Then this one guy stood up and said, "Oh that's ok. We consider him an
§ honorary Mexican anyway." I can't explain it to where it makes much sense but at that
. moment I felt very proud to be Mexican. Even though I was whlte ot ¢ ;
5 M e T . et
I was living in DC for a while in the early 90's where I had thlS Jamaican fnend named 4
Robert who I used to hang out a lot. The weekend of the Rodney King verdict and the LA %
~ riots (rebellion), Robert, another friend and I were supposed to go to Richmond for the
»§ weekend to see some friends and maybe go to this amusement park. We had made plans to .0
4 B 20 a few weeks before, but that Friday Rob said he wasn't going. 1asked him why andhe § ¢
) said that maybe this wasn't a good time go. He said with the Riots going on and all, he ;
B didn't feel like it was a good idea for him to be seen with any white people. He said he was
" just wanted to stay at home for a while and think about some stuff. I don't know why, but it
surpnsed me a little when he said that I was a httle sad, but I also understood where he

TRy

In DC, I dated this glrl named Yolanda who was Black. Every time Yolanda and I would
* go out. almost without fail, we'd be yelled at by someone, usually male. *What baby, you
~couldn't find a brother?" "Whatcha hangin' out with her for?* Then we'd get angry stares
a% from people on the metro, of all ages and races. It made going out pretty stressful, no
¥ matter how much we said we didn't care. All of that was pretty early in our relationship and
 because of that the relationship didn't really have much of a chance to grow. Everywhere
| we went we were stared at like we had some horrible disease. After a few weeks, she told
§ me the pressure was getting too much for her and we broke up a few days later. I remember,
feeling really bad about the whole world back then.




A former co-worker of mine named Lester told me once that he was once literally chased
out of a nightclub for dancing with his wife. Both of them were black. They both listened
to some country music and when they heard a song that they liked on the jukebox they got
up to dance. When they were dancing, some guy kept bumping into them, which seemed
like it was on purpose. They got into a brief argument about it. My friend offered to buy
"~ the guy a beer to mend the fence, but other guy wasn't having it. "I don't want a beer from
" you, nigger. Ijust want you to get out of here right now." A fight broke out and my friend
_..and his wife were chased out of the bar back to their car. The people from the bar ran to
- Lester’s car and started pounding on it with their fists and hitting it with pool sticks. They
% almost had to run over one of the angry white man who was po ding thei car just to get

written by European white

; bla:ﬁ friend came back from work one night and was incredibly pissed. He told me

that the police had impounded his car. He was pulled over because one of his taillights was:

* burned out. He started asking the cop why he was really being pulled over and another cop

car came up and the cop called my friend a bunch of racial insults. My friend yelled back

and the cops said he was being "unruly” and they arrested him and nnpounded his vehlcle

He eventually got it back, but was very angry aboul the i c1dent for alon,
¥

A white friend of xhine was talking wilh me about how much she hated cops and then went
on to talk about how she was recently pulled over for going a few miles over the speed
limit. She kept talking about the instance, comparing her stop to Gestapo road tactics.
Later I was talking with this black man at a bus stop and the conversation turned to the
police and our mutual dislike for them. He started telling me about how one of his friends
was shot by the police for running when they told him to stop. I don't know if he died or
not, but one thing I thought of when he spoke of the police is that when whites complain
about the cops it usually involves traffic stops where the police officer gave the person a
.. ticket instead of letting them off with a warning. When blacks complain about the pglice
i they usually have been to jail, beaten, or have been shot, or at least know someone h has £
been to jail, been beaten by or shot at by the police. P
Not all the times for either, but as a whole from my experien




Some friends of mine were driving through the poor side of town when they saw lights in
their rear view mirror. The cop asked them what they were doing in this neighborhood.
"Going home." "Do you live here?" the cop said. "No, this is just a shortcut to our house."
"Oh," the cop said. "I pulled you over because you usually don't see white people in this
neighborhood. Y'all should probably avoid the black side of town. You might get shot."

Similarly, my friend Kent was walking home from work and passed through a poor,
predominantly minority neighborhood a few blocks from our house when a police car
pulled up next to him. The cops asked him if he was there buying drugs. "No officer, I'm
just walking home." "You live here? Let me see an ID." He ran it, did a check, and told
him that he shouldn't walk through this area because he was white and this was a black
neighborhood. Of course, to the officer, a white person would never be seen with a black
person unless they were buying drugs. And they certainly couldn't just be neighbors and
live together, not unless they were involved in crime. That's why the police stopped Kent.

These hobos who used to come to Food Not Bombs for a while told me that during the
daytime it was OK for the black hobos to hang out with white ones, but as soon as the sun
fell, they had to go back with their own race. "The police will stop you quicker than
anything if they see a black hobo walking with a white one. Maybe even make up some
shit to take you jail for." When I hear things like that, I find it hard to believe that there
isn't an actual plan to keep us all separated.




Philadelphia

I had been in Philadelphia a few days before the big protests against the Republican
Convention was going to take place. The city had given all the protest organizers hell for
wanting to rain on their Republican parade. At first they had planned to not give out any
permits for demonstrators at all. They were afraid of another Seattle happening in
Philadelphia, and I can't say that wasn't the goal of the protests either. I think for a lot of us,
that was what we wanted. Seattle was a shining glimpse into the future for us of what could
happen here in america if we really fought for it. Of course, the government wasn't as proud
of our accomplishments as we were and the last thing they wanted to see happen was a repeat
of November 30, 1999 in Philadelphia.

After the threat of a civil suit, the city government finally relented a bit and gave the
organizers a permit for one march about 3 days before the convention would starf. Anything
else would be illegal.

The permitted march went without a hitch. I think it was called "Unity Day" and was
supposed to be a solidarity gathering for reform, radicals, and anti-capitalist groups. It was
kind of neat to sce the Zapatistas, Revolutionary Communist Party, various Anarchist groups
marching side by side with NOW and the Nader Campaign supporters, but it still felt a little
too "allowed." It was still cool, though. I think there were even a few Gore 2000 people
there, but they weren't welcomed as much as the others.

I was with the Industrial Workers of the World (Wobblies) and we took up the tail of the
march and passed out a newspaper that we had printed up specifically for the Republican and
Democratic conventions. The gathering was a huge event that took up several city blocks. At
the rallies, there were a ton of groups there that I had wanted to see while I was in Philly, like

. the Friends and Family of Mumia Abu-Jamal and the survivors of the MOVE bombing of
1985. Ramona Africa, who lost her kids in the bombing and went to jail for 7 years simply
for surviving, was manning a MOVE table selling T-shirts with the words “Welcometo * -
Philadelphia” overtop of a picture of a helicopter dropping the bomb that killed her kids. She
still had burmn scars all over her arms to remind her of what had happened that day in the off
chance she ever forgot.

After the rally, we went back to the IWW headquarters to rest for a bit and get somethmg
to eat. Once we got up there, the Socialist Party contingent from the march came up to the
IWW office, including the Socialist Party's presidential candidate, and hung out with us for
the night. It might not sound tco interesting to many, but I have to admit that it was a really
nice night. We all sat around and talked politics, revolution, sang old wobbly songs together,
and got drunk as hell on cheap beer with the Socialist Candidate for President of the United
States. It was almost like what I imagine Greenwich Village was like when Emma Goldman,
Alexander Berkman, and John Reed were living there. We stayed there for a few h i
getting good and sauced, talking politics and history, while downing a lot of beer (my idea of
what heaven would be like, if there was one). We said our farewells and went back to the A-
Space to sleep on the floor with around 40 other protesters, most were with either the
Independent Media Center, ACT-UP, IWW, or Black Bloc. All were very nice.




The next day was the Kensington Welfare Rights Union march. This was the first of the
illegal demonstrations. The police first said that if the Welfare Rights group took to the
streets then the city would have everyone arrested. Later on however, they figured out that if
they arrested a couple hundred welfare mothers on TV the day before the Republican
Convention they might lose a little support from the working class of Philly and doG forbid
the Republicans were linked with putting the poor in jail. At least the day before the
convention. There would be plenty of time for that once their asshole got the job. Until then,
they relented and gave the KWRU a limited permit to march, but they put strict limitations on
what they could do. So strict that they scemed insane. If you can imagine, they made us all,
3000 people, march in a single file line, through a gauntlet of cops and "suits" at the start of
the march. It was crazy and very intimidating, which I'm sure was the purpose. And if that
wasn't crazy enough, the organizers led us on a 5 mile death march in the blazing July sun to
go to where the Republicans were meeting. But once we got there, the whole place was
blocked off by a wall of cops who pushed us towards this nearby park. On the way, we
passed a few street preachers who were yelling at us that all this insane stuff like we were all
going to burn in a lake of fire with Tupac Shakur. I'm not sure what the Tupac reference was
for, but it made us laugh. That aside, the whole situation was insane. Everyone was so tired
by now, dehydrated, and feet hurting that when we finally got to the park, all we wanted to do
was sit down and crash. And after all that walking, 5 miles of walking, all we did was listen
to a few people give 5 minute speeches about how great the KWRU was and that was it. I
think we were all in a state of shock. That's it/

The walk back was a death march, too. The only consolation was that we were taking the
subway home instead of another 5 miler. Once we got to the Subway, there were a couple
dozen cops floating around. I was expecting them to start the hassle, but instead they were
passing out bottles of water. It was creepy.

The next day was going to be the test though. It was the first day of the convention and it
was also supposed to be the Day of Direct Action. I don't remember hearing that anyone had
any real hopes of stopping the convention from happening. Seattle was different because I
don't think that the police seriously thought that a bunch of punk kids could stop the World
Trade Organization from meeting, but we did Now, no mayor wanted the distinction of their
city being the next Seattle.

This is where the conflict begins.

The Day of Action

Sometime before the day of action, the police started doing some pre-emptive arrests.
They raided a warchouse where everyone inside was making paper mache puppets. The
police claimed that they were making bombs. They said that there were Molotov cocktails
being manufactured, giant slingshots to propel fire bombs, and chicken wire to make
barricades. That was complete bullshit, of course. What they seized was a bunch of art
supplies, but the press didn’t question anything that the police said and the damage was done.
They not only stole almost all of the banners, picket signs, and giant puppets, thus making our
message much less unclear, but they also arrested 72 people. Many of whom were organizers
for the demonstrations.




A few months before the RNC, the Philly police had been in Washington to observe the
way the DC cops handled the IMF Protests. In Washington, the police did a similar raid on
another warchouse and made up a bunch of lies about the people they arrested to tell the press
(like when they scized a big pot of soup and claimed that the protesters were manufacturing
homemade pepper spray. A lie they never retracted, or if they did it wasn't news anymore).
Either way, the goal of those kind of arrests isn't to stop crime, but to stop certain people from
organizing and get them off the streets¢ It also helps demonize the protesters in the eyes of
the public. Or at least make the public less sympathetic to their cause, if even for a short time
because that’s all they really need. If they were wrong, then they’ll apologize if public
opinion tells them to. Or not. That's what happened in Philadelphia.

Seattle was very organized. To the point that there were activists with walkie-talkies on
the rooftops of downtown Seattle marking police movements to people on the ground. It was
almost military in its precision and very impressive from the ground level at how effective the
organizers were. Philly didn't seem as well organized, or if it was, the police were ready for
the tactics that the demonstrators planned to use. Anyone with a cell phone was a target.
Anyone with a sign was a target. Anyone wearing black was a target. Anyone looking punk
was a target.

Around noon a bunch of the Wobblies I was working with headed over to one of the
convergence centers downtown. Once we got there, we got something to eat at the Food Not
Bombs that was set up outside, sat on the grass for a few minutes and had lunch. Once we
ate, we decided we should go, but we weren't exactly sure where to go. After a while, we
figured we'd follow some of the Black Bloc kids heading downtown, assuming that they'd
know where to go. Once we saw a small contingent heading out, we decided to follow them.
So they wouldn't get paranoid that we were cops or something, one of our guys ran up to them
and told them that we were with the IWW. We didn’t plan on doing any Black Bloc action,
but thought we could still help them out and still stay in the background. We were mostly
going to keep an eye on them incase anything happened to them with the cops and maybe try
to "unarrest” them if it became necessary (or was possible). They were cool with that and we
all headed to this Mumia rally next to the Quaker "Friends Center”, where'd we lay low for an
hour and then meet a few blocks away for the action.

: When the hour was up, we headed over to the
corner where we told the Black Blocers that we'd
meet up with them. As we were walking up the
street, a reporter from the Associated Press came
up to us and started asking us questions about the
Black Bloc people. "Are they Anarchists?" she
asked us. "I think they're republicans" someone
said jokingly. "We're Anarchists though. Do
you want to talk to us?" “No thanks, I’Jghgoing
to try and catch up with those people.” e left
us, only to get dissed by the "real" anarchists in
uniform, who wouldn't talk to her at all.

As we met up with our people, we tried to stay on the sidelines, but it soon became
evident to us that this was going to be impossible. So, not wanting to get left behind, we
Jjoined in the river of black clothes. I even saw a couple of people I knew in the crowd, some

*




were in the IWW and some were in bands that passed though Pensacola, maybe from New
York. After some pleasantries, the events started to unfold quickly. Once the crowd started
to grow, two of the people up front unfurled this huge black and red banner that read "ANTI-
CAPITALIST BLOC." With that, all these people started pulling out these giant Anarchist
flags, some black and red, some black and green, but most of were large, solid black flags.
One by one, Black Flags were being unrolled, pulled out of cargo pockets, and backpacks. It
looked very much like the pictures I've seen of May Day parades in China, except that all the
flags waving in the breeze were black instead of red. It was an amazing sight. And we kept
gaining people. Every time we'd round a corner chere would be 50 more people it scemed
until our numbers were easily in the hundreds. It was an inspiring site to go from a few
scattered black clad anarchists to a sea of black masks, with flags and banners flying up front.

Unfortunately, the cops were taking up our rear.

What was amazing too was the number of bystanders on the sidewalks of the downtown
streets, mostly Philly's working class and minorities, some clapping, some giving us the raised
fist salute. It felt good to know that people understood, or at least were sympathetic and
supportive of what we were there for. Later on the media would hark on how our message
was garbled. On the streets that day, it didn't scem like we were being misconstrued.

The cops followed us kind of slowly on bikes, but as our numbers grew, the cops seemed
to worry and tried to speed up to catch us. But as the cops sped up, so did we. Still, block by
block our numbers were growing, As soon as we got to a point that we were large enough to
take on the police, we started setting up barricades against the oncoming bike cops. It was
kind of weird because we (Wobblies) all agreed that we weren't going to risk arrest at that
time, but were just going to act as a support network for the “foot soldiers.” It didn't take
long, however, before the events kind of took a life of their own.

As we rounded the corner, I heard a whistle blow. The chase was on. And it really was a
full on chase. Cops were running and we were running too. Sadly, the cops were faster
because they were on bikes and our mass was slowly being dispersed by the cops who cut
ahead of us and broke up our groups as we ran to get away from them.

But out of the corner of my eye I could see this one flash of blue jet by us as we were
running on the sidewalk. The blue flash was this bike cop who had raced ahead of us to cut us
off at the intersection. As soon as he got to the comer, he jumped off his bike and got in front
of it to try and block us from passing. He put the kickstand down and got in front of his bike,
opening his arms like he was going to tackle the first person who got close enough to him.
There were about dozen of us. As we tried to maneuver around the cop, he jumped from side
to side trying to anticipate which way were going, My heart was beating out of my chest and
I thought for sure we were busted. Right then, the guy next to me, a kind of big guy in the
black bloc, bent down like a linebacker and headed straight for the cop. I don't think the cop
expected that and had this momentary look of dread on his face that was wiped off when the
anarchist linebacker plowed into him. The cop went flying over his bike and was sprawled
out on the concrete as we jumped over top of the cop and rounded the comer. I thought about
looking back., but you can't slow down when you're being chased (which we were).

As we rounded the comer, a half dozen cops were close behind. I was lucky in one sense
that I wasn't wearing all black since that’s what they were really looking for. I think I had a
gray Propagandhi shirt on and a baseball hat, with a black mask on, partly for secrecy, but
mostly incase of tear gas.

|



The cops were really close behind us and were running as fast as they could, but we stitl
had the lead. As we headed around the comer, everyone started to disperse to make it
impossible for the cops to catch all of us. And since we weren't really in any specific group,
we didn't have a meeting spot and were somewhat on our own as soon as we started running,
So, when we passed around the comner, I stopped to take off my mask and hat and started
walking in the opposite direction I was just running from. That way, when the cops passed by
they would be looking for people running away from them, not people walking by. Isaw it in
a movie once, and just like in that movie, the cops ran right by me without even looking. I
looked at the camera and smiled.

Right then, I saw these two other punk kids run into this alleyway where a janitor was
watching what was going on from a kitchen door. When he saw the anarchists run down the
alley, he quickly and quietly signaled for them to go in the door so they could hide from the
cops. As soon as they scurried into the doorway, the cops came around the comér with batons
in one hand and guns in the other. Then they stopped and realized that the people they were
chasing were gone and looked really surprised that they'd lost them in such a short time
frame. As the cops were checking the trash can and looking undemeath cars for the kids, the
janitor was sweeping dirt up into a dustpan. The cops tapped him on the shoulder and asked
where the boys in black went. I couldn't hear what he said, only saw him shrug his shoulders
and the cops ran off. As I left, [ saw the Anarchists shaking hands with the janitor and then
run off into the distance. The janitor watched them until they were gone, then looked over his
shoulder and went back to work.

Now that the cops were off my back I could take a step back and see what was going on
around me. I saw most of the other black bloc people run into a subway entrance and
disappear into the congestion. I don't think they caught anyone because the next time I saw
the cops, they came back looking pissed.

Then they were all gone. Cops and Anarchists, everyone. Just like that, it was over. Now
it was only me and a street full of yuppies on their way back from work. It was very surreal.
My heart was still pounding its way out of my chest I hstened for the sirens and followed
their sounds to get back to the action. ,

Walking through the streets it felt strange
thinking that only 10 minutes ago I was with &=
a dozen of my friends, 2 minutes ago we'd
all been separated and were running from
the hogs. And now here I was in front of the
Bamnes and Nobles, looking at all the
shoppers, passing people drinking espresso
on the comer cafe. It was like I was part of
a tornado that passed through and left me
stuck in a tree.

It didn't take me anytime to find where everyone went. I knew a Mumla rally was going
on near this plaza downtown so I headed that way and got there just in time to see Ramona
Africa speak for about a minute when the sounds of drum beats and people chanting slogans
against Bush forced her to stop speaking for a minute. Iran down to join them and fell in
with a few thousand protesters, g1 yelling at George Bush in one voice. Even though I was




energized by the Black Bloc, that was only a few hundred people. It was refreshing to see
these kind of numbers again.

We worked to block off every intersection around the plaza, mostly by circling around the
center and setting up barricades at every block. People were spray painting slogans to walls
and slashing the tires on police cars. I saw a few people rip down red, white, and blue
streamers and try to burn them, as a million news crews hurried around to get the
inflammatory photo of some radicals trying to burn the flag, even though they weren't even
really flags. Just some red, white, and blue cloth (like the flag, I guess). Someone even threw
a red paint balloon to symbolize blood at Lynn Abrams office, the DA who 1s trying to kill
Mumia.

Within these circles people debate whether it's right or wrong to vandalize the symbolic
and if it’s right, does it represent Anarchism as a whole. Personally I'd say that the argument
isn't worth discussing. First, it wasn't only Anarchists who were in the Black Bloc or were
slashing the cop’s tires. Besides, I don't think that breaking McDonald's windows is very
Anarchistic in the purest forms, but I still think it's effective if you are trying to get the
media's attention. I don't specifically think that it was all together "good," whatever that
means, but I think that it must be put into context of the situation. Good or bad, the WTO
protests in Seattle wouldn't have gotten the attention that they did if it weren't for the window
breakers. That's my opinion though. I personally didn't take place in any property |
destruction, but I'm not opposed to it either, depending on the circumstance. Violence isn't
always a fist or a gun. It could be economic, environmental, or social. And sometimes you
are pushed up against the wall and strike back the only way you can. I don't believe in
universal truths or moral points because I don't think that one can write off life as something
that's so black and white to say that "this" is always wrong or "that" is always right. Right
and wrong depends on whose side of the baton you are on.

This time we were on the other side of the -,
baton, and we learned that quickly when the
police erupted. Angry cops ran up to protesters,
ripping up protest signs, clearing people and
anti-police signs away from the Frank Rizzo
monument (Rizzo was the Philly police chief
during it’s worst years), which was also hit by a
red paint balloon, and arresting everyone.
Speakers were still speaking on Mumia's behatf
in the plaza, telling people that on the other side
of the square the police were dragging protesters &
through the streets into paddy wagons. The first |
person I saw was dragged away yelling a chant
for Mumia. 4 s =

I was standing next to the "bloody" Frank szzo statue with about 15 onlookers when thls
group of off duty cops came up to us and started ripping up all the Mumia posters and pushing
people away from the statue. All of them were wearing T-shirts that said "Mumia's Day Will
Come" with a giant needle below it. As they were heading off this old man in the crowd
yelled to the off duty police officers "You'll get yours one day!" A bunch of people cheered
and the cops gave us smug looks and went back to point out different people to the cops in




uniform. The uniform police then started rounding those people up. Then they started
targeting people with cell phones, thinking they were all giving tactical instructions (which
wasn't totally untrue). A bunch of yuppies and bike messengers ended up getting thrown into
the back of police cars because of the long arm of the cell phone sweeps.

The whole area had turned into a circus. Cameras everywhere, filming people being
arrested one by one for blocking intersections or standing in front of the Republican delegate's
buses. There wasn't anything else to do but get arrested. As I was limping away (I hurt my
foot jumping over that cop), I decided to head over to the Friend's Center for some food. On
the way, I ran into a few Wobblies. While everyone was telling about what happened to them
after we were separated I learned that Billy, one of the guys in our IWW contingent, was
picked up by the pigs during the big chase. It really sucked because he was HIV positive and
wasn't carrying his medications with him since he had planned to go back that night. I guess
he got swept up in everything and wasn't quick enough to get away. No one knew what he
was arrested for though, just that he was arrested.

Over at the Friend's Center we laid low for a while, hung out, and made sandwiches and
drank coffee until we were ready for the hike back to West Philly.

Once we got back to the A-Space, Eric handed me a cold Schlitz and told me that Billy had
been arrested for felony assault on a police officer and was being held on $50,000 bail.
$50,000! After hearing that, the gravity of what was going on around us started to sink in.
We both ended up getting drunk on cheap beer and watching the highlights of the day's events
on the evening news.

Watching the local media's spin on everything was disgusting. They kept saying that we
had no clear message. I couldn't believe it. No clear message? If we didn't have a clear
message for TV3, it was because the police confiscated all of our "clear messages” in the raid
on the puppet space. No critical mention of the raid on a "puppet factory"” was in the evening
news however, just the insane question "Why are they even protesting?" To answer their
question, they must have interviewed every idiot in a suit to find out the dirt on what a bunch
of "kids" would come all the way to Philadelphia to protest the Republican Party. I couldn't
believe this was even a question. They didn't talk to any of the people who rose their fists as
we passed by, any of the organizers, any minorities, only Yuppies held up in traffic. "I
support free speech, but I don't understand this?" one of them said. What's there not to
understand about protesting the Republican Party or George Bush Junior? Abortion Rights,
the war on the poor, military police state, lack of health care, Nixon, Bush I, Reagan, war, etc,
etc. It always amazed me how the Fascists could get peasants to take up the cause of the rich
and fight for them, but they do. And America has no shortage of Fascist wannabes.

It was frustrating watching how the days events were being portrayed on the nightly news,
but at least we weren't in jail like Billy and almost everyone else who I was staying with. The
night before the floor had been crowded with no room to walk for all the sleeping bogies
everywhere. Tonight, Eric and I practically had the place to ourselves. I stepped out for a
little walk and got some food to cook up from the Asian market around the corner. Right
before I went back into the A-Space, I took a deep breath and thought about everything that
happened during the day. I was really glad I wasn't in jail.

Eric gave me another beer when I got upstairs. I fell asleep drinking it, listening to the
sounds of people downstairs on the street talking, cars driving by and police sirens outside the
window. L
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The Paranoia Begins

When we woke up the next morning, Pete from Albany had a copy of the local paper.
was just as bad as the Evening News was the night before. Distractionary stories on how
commuters were disrupted. how so and so couldn't get to Starbucks and the like. Anything
written about the protesters read like it was written by the police themselves, followed by
page after page of red, white, and blue crap.

Pete and I planned to lay low that day, sucking up the AC at the Shadow Convention and
listening to some speakers. The Shadow Convention was pretty typical liberal reformist stuff.
Nothing too exciting except for this one African woman who was part of 50 Years is Not
Enough, an African debt relief group. "Our power," she said. "is in the streets." Very
refreshing to hear after hour afier hour of "Vote Gore" "Go Vote." "We hate republicans, so
remember to vote for the other guy." Boring, but air-conditioned. And it really was a good
place to lay low and get off my feet, which were still hurting from the day before.

After a few speeches. I went home for a bit and heated up some of the day before’s food
and then walked back to the Shadow Convention to sce Jello Biafra speak, but somehow
missed it. Instead I saw Chuck D and this guy from The Simpsons do a Mystery Science
Theatre thing with Dick Cheney's acceptance speech. I thought it would be funny, and I guess
it was supposed to be, but it's like making jokes about atomic bombs while they're dropping
on you. More uneasy than anything,

Right before it started, Ben and Jerry’s Ice Cream truck drove up and started giving away
tons of free ice cream. The head of Ben and Jerry gave a speech on responsible military
spending, which was weird. Leon kept yelling "Abolish the Military" whenever he had the
chance, ice cream stick in hand. I don't know if he heard him or not.

Once I got back to the space, Eric and Alexis were there. They told me that there still was
no word on the Wobs in jail. Eric thought that everything was tapped and that we were being
watched. He seemed a little paranoid. but not without reason though. He said that people
were taking photos of the space earlier and that the cops had dropped off this kid in front of
our door. When he knocked on the door, Eric asked who he was, especially since he was just
dropped off by the cops. He said that he asked the cops where the Anarchists were staying
and they gave him a lift to our place. Eric thought that sounded crazy, but then some people
at the space vouched him, promising that he wasn't an undercover cop. He reluctantly let him
in, but still remained pretty guarded around him. Who would ask a cop where the Anarchists
were staying? And who would get into a police car after asking that question? Weird.

As we were telling Alexis about what had happened downstairs. she told us that the police
were now arresting anyone that even looked like what an Anarchist or punk should look like.
I couldn't believe this was happening, that they were picking people off of the strect and
arresting them simply for looking punk.

Besides all of us, they picked up the head of Ruckus Society, a group that helped organize
these demonstrations and the WTO in Seattle. He was being held on misdemeanor charges,
but the bail was set, first at half a million dollars, then they rose it again to a full million
dollars the next day. Attorneys on the news said that that was unheard of. Most murderers
don't even have that high bail. The whole time, Philly's Police chief, this guy named Timony,
kept saying that the high bails weren't specifically politically motivated. Amazing Not (o



mention that the Philadelphia Police Department was just in the news a few days before for
shooting an unarmed black man several times, almost killing him. Plus of course the MOVE
bombing several years before, and Mumia to name a few other police discretions. Even the
guy who normally lived in the space that I was staying at, his brother was shot and killed by
these cops only a year before. :

After all of that, I had to admit that I was getting pretty paranoid, too.

Crazy Christians and the Prison Protest

Eric told me that there were protests in front of the jail where most of the 400 people
arrested were being held. He said it was a good number of people protesting, but there were a
lot of cops there too. Also some counter-protests being held by some really wacky christian
groups, including one that was calied "Men Against Breast Feeding" (no joke). They told
Eric that they were against breast-feeding because it promoted oral fixations, a loosening of
people's morals on oral sex and caused women to have pleasure while feeding their children.
Oh yeah, and caused smoking too. I recently read Bertrand Russell's Why I Am Not A
Christian. 1 don't think he listed crazy groups like this in his rationale, but I'd recommend a
new section to that essay.

Before going to the jail protest I wanted to go to the Shadow Convention first. Right as 1
was leaving the A-Space, there was a Channel 10 camera crew filming the front entrance to
the Space. I opened the door, saw the camera, then slammed it shut and looked out the
peephole until they shut the cameras off. As soon as the cameras were off I ran out to see
what they were doing. They said that they were filming a few shots for the weekly round up,
but that seemed too strange to me. It's not normal to have your front door being filmed for the
nightly news. I was feeling really paranoid now and thought that they might know something
that we didn't know, like if the house was about to be raided. I went back upstairs and told
everyone there what had happened and they were just as freaked out by the whole thing as I
was. We were kind of expecting a swarm of cops to come busting through the door at
anytime, which made my itch to leave Philly that much stronger. But I was stuck until
Saturday morning and this was only Thursday.

After that whole ordeal, I went to the Shadow Convention again and saw this presentation
on the media and the corporate stranglehold on public information. After that I walked down
to the jail protest to join in the vigit.

Like everything that was going on there, I wasn't sure where to go for most of it. But I
figured that if I followed the punks that they would take me where I need to be. That advice
still holds true, not only for mass demonstrations, but also for everyday life, This time the
punks led me to jail (as, unfortunately, also happens from time to time). On the way to the

" protest I passed about 200 cops, which is a pretty intimidating sight when you're only walking
about 15 blocks. Every time I'd pass a gaggle of them, I'd turn my head hoping, not t¢ be
recognized. -

Once I got to the park: I met up with Leon, who told me that he almost got busted for
smoking pot. Turns out he lit up a joint right in front of the jail. Almost immediately, a cop
came up to him and asked him what he thought he was doing. He told the cop that he was
from Canada and he didn't know what the US laws were on marijuana. The cops told him to
put out the joint and throw it aw#y. I couldn't believe he wasn't in jail, too.




As we were standing there cating a sandwich from FNB, this crazy christian guy came up
to everyone and started preaching the most insane religious shit I'd ever heard One of the
religious nuts had a sign that said "Warning to all Abortionists, adulterers, drunkards,
evolutionists, fornicators. idolaters, lesbians, liars. pornofreaks, potheads, racists, sodomites,
thieves, whoremongors, witches, and all religious hypocrites- YOU SHALL BURN IN A
LAKE OF FIRE WITH TUPAC SHAKUR." I never could figure out what all the Tupac
references were about. However in Seattle. this guy standing next to me when a row of cops
were about to start shooting rubber bullets and tear gas at us, ran into a dumpster and picked
out a bottle from the trash. Right before he threw the bottle, he looked at me and shouted.
"This one's for Tupac Shakur!" and threw the bottle at the oncoming wall of police. Honest.
So maybe there is a connection.

The preacher went on to condemn all lesbians, sodomites. people who don't get married.
rebels, Mumia, and fans of Ozzy Osborne and Black Sabbath to a lake of fire. "Alright all
you rebels here in 'Rebel Park.' You should go back to San Fran-SIN-sco with your wicked,
wicked ways!" The whole place was a circus.

As I'wandered around the freak show in the park. I saw a few more people that I knew in
front of the jail. Unfortunately, for every person I saw in the park that afternoon. I saw at
least one cop just in case anything got out of hand. One to one isn't a good ratio when you're
tallang about pcople with nightsticks and guns. Not to mention that so many people were still
locked up. This demonstration was more unorganized than the others and maybe was
gathered more to show a presence and support to those who were rotting away behind bars
than to actually put pressure on the city to free the prisoners. That stuff is important, but
maybe not very effective at actually getting anyone released. In Seattle, there were thousands
of people who encircled the jail and demanded that the prisoners be set free. Here they
demanded it. but it wasn't as forceful. No one had to listen to a bunch of punks in the park
like they had to listen to thousands of people locked arm in arm around the prison saying that
no one could leave until the prisoners were set free. Maybe it's not fair to compare, though.

After a few hours there. I went back to the house where this kid from Dallas was waiting
for us. He was in the house the first day of the protests, but was arrested by the cops almost
right away. He was pretty freaked out by the whole experience. He said he saw people
dragged naked through broken glass by their hair across the jail, people get their necks
stomped on for not talking, and more. Condition wise, he said it was dark. dank, and more
like a dungeon than a prison. In fact. that particular prison had been closed for years and was
only opened so they could film movies with dungeon scenes. He said they were hardly fed,
until they decided they would go on a hunger strike, then food was forced down their throats.
He was understandably disturbed and never really calmed down for the rest of the time I was
in Philly. A ot of it was tinged with guilt. he said, because he was "free" while his friends
were still locked up.

Later on that night. we all settled down, those who weren't in jail at least, and watched the
last speeches of the convention. The final one was George Bush Junior giving his acceptance
speech for the republican nomination for the president of the United States. I felt sick
watching him.




The last days

I spent my last full day there trying to sort my personal stuff out before I left the next
morning. I was broke and was heading towards Texas after I left Philadelphia, so [ had scrape
up a few dollars so I could eat on the bus ride down south. I walked to the West Philly
library, checked my email and headed back to the A-Space.

Everyone I was staying with was pretty busy running around trying to get people out of
jail. The IWW had used up a big chunk of its Class War Prisoner Fund trying to bail ! Billy
out of jail so they could get him to his doctor. The pigs kept fucking with him though and
changing the circumstances of his release and wouldn't give him his medication, even when
they knew he was HIV positive.

More horror stories came out about the treatment of the prisoners, causing the Chief
Timony to hold a press conference with the Mayor. The conference was rough to.watch,
though. It seemed that they spent half their breath kissing each others asses and talking about
what a success the whole convention was. The other half of the speech was spent
condemning the protesters. Timony even went so far as to say that any of the protesters that
traveled from other states to take part in the demonstrations should be investigated by the
Justice Department for interstate racketeering charges and conspiracy. Smelt like 1968. A
few people, some relatives of those imprisoned, disrupted the police conference loud enough
to get in the paper. "Those dangerous people you arrested were making puppets!" The police
hauled them away and put them in jail, too. Then the chief even went so far as to say that the
people they had arrested were making Molotov cocktails to throw at the crowd. What idiot
would make a fire bomb to throw at the people they were trying to reach? It didn't matter
though. They know that the press will take their word over ours, and people will be afraid of
the next group of protesters they see on TV and will have no sympathy for the ones in jail if
they think they are dangerous to the public.

The mood in Philly was still very frightened when I was leaving. Alexis and Eric sounded
like they truly expected this place to get raided at any imnute. The sweeps were still
continuing throughout the city. I saw on the news that the head of the Philadelphia chapter of
ACT-UP, the radical AIDS activist group, had been arrested and was also being held on
$1,000,000 bail. It was interesting because she was local, and the police were trying to make
it all seem the city was calm before these outside agitators started stirring up trouble.
Forgetting that most of the organizers were local and most of the participants (for example,
the KWRU) were local, too. It was getting dangerous there. Alexis was very worried about a
crackdown on radicals after the national media left Philadelphia, like after the MOVE
bombing in '85. As I was leaving the space to get something to eat, she warned me about not
wear any black if I were walking the streets or the cops could pick me up.

In Seattle, we caught them off guard and it seemed like a total victory. In Philadelphia I
didn't get that feeling. There it was felt more like they caught all the rebels and had started
the public executions.

Someone told us that Billy was transferred to Holmesburg Prison, the dungeon, right as he
was about to be bailed out. Supposedly for no other reason than to fuck with him. To his
benefit though, we found out that he was arrested with a reporter from the US News and
World Report, who said he would back up Billy in court to say that he was innocent on the
felony assault charges. That was ggod news, but Billy was still in jail and no one knew when
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he would be released. Same with the majority of the prisoners. And more people were still
being rounded up everyday.

The next moming, I woke up before everyone else. wrote a note to everyone still at the A-
Space who weren't in jail, and caught the trolley into town from the corner of 47" and
Baltimore. The sun was starting to come up and people were slowly moving around. I've
always liked that time of day. I was feeling good. enjoying a nice morning, until I saw the
headlines of the paper "Protesters Plan To Cripple City." I bought a copy, wishing I could
have found a copy in the trash so I wouldn't have had to pay for the propaganda. The article
was stupid and didn't say anything I didn't know already. Just repeated exactly what the
police said the day before about weapons of mass destruction, something about stopping a bus
full of pets for a pet store that they claimed were to be used as biological weapons by the
protesters (later retracted in fine print). I sat down in the station and scribbled a note to the
Philadelphia Inquirer congratulating them for having the "guts" to print whatever the police
told them too and thanked them for being such good stooges for the man (I was being
sarcastic of course).

My bus was late and this guy with a short haircut kept asking me questions about what I
had been doing in Philly. Iassumed he was a cop, but I was also extra paranoid so he might
have just been some nosey guy. Philly's got me creeped out and I didn't think I'd feel any
rehef until I was on the bus and out of the city of brotherly police attacks.

As anxious as I was to leave, I still felt really guilty about it. I met some great people in
Philadelphia. but half of them were waking up in prison that morning on trumped up
"conspiracy” or "criminal misconduct" charges. There was still a lot of work to be done and
the people I was leaving behind in Philly didn't feel at ease.

My bus finally arrived and I found a seat by the window and settled down to read the
paper. The letters to the editor seemed in our favor, so maybe some of our message did get
across to the public after all. 5

It's hard to say. back then. or even in retrospect if
Philadelphia was a defeat. In some ways it's always a
victory when people speak up. But I don't think that
too many people felt victorious leaving that city.
However, with any struggle. there comes the
occasional set back. Maybe Philly was that. I guess
only time will tell.

As the bus was leaving the city, I felt an en